














- Applicant will implement all recommendations of acoustic report dated 4/5/24 (attached)
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April 5, 2024 
 
Michael Landeen 
SVP, General Manager 
601 West 26th Street 
New York, NY 10001 
 
Ref:  Starrett Lehigh Building Terrace 
 Terrace Acoustic Survey Report 
 Trinity Project # 243310.0177 
 
Dear Michael, 
 
We have completed our review of the Starrett Lehigh building terrace project located at 601 West 26th 
Street in Manhattan, NYC with regards to the application for a liquor license and the potential noise 
associated with its use.  We have coordinated the design of the space with consideration of the impact 
from the proposed outdoor terrace to the surrounding spaces and have included provisions within the 
design to mitigate noise impact to adjacent properties.  The following summarizes our findings, 
comments, and recommendations. 
 
1.0 NYC Noise Code & Acoustic Criteria 
 
Noise from the terrace must comply with NYC Commercial Music Code Section §24-231 at receiving 
residential space as outlined below: 
 

Section §24-231 Commercial Music. (a) No person shall make or cause or permit to be made or 
caused any music originating from or in connection with the operation of any commercial 
establishment or enterprise when the level of sound attributable to such music, as measured 
inside any receiving property dwelling unit: 

(1) 42dBA as measured with a sound level meter; or  

(2) is in excess of 45 dB in any one-third octave band having a center frequency between 63 
hertz and 500 hertz (ANSI bands numbers 18 through 27, Inclusive), in accordance with 
American National Standards Institute standard S1.6-1984; or  

(3) causes a 6 dB(C) or more increase in the total sound level above the ambient sound level as 
measured in decibels in the "C" weighting network provided that the ambient sound level is 
in excess of 62 dB(C).  

 
This code requirement is very strict and will require the volume level of any audio amplification to be 
limited.  Regardless of the allowable levels established by code, the design intent will be for noise to be 
nondisruptive at the nearest receiving residential spaces. 
 
2.0 Proposed Terrace & Usage 

The proposed outdoor terrace will be on the tenth-floor level on the southwest side of the roof. The 
typical proposed use includes a lounge/restaurant and bar with background music operating from 
3PM-12AM Monday through Thursday, 3PM-2AM Friday and Saturday, and 7AM-12AM on Sunday.  The 
space will also host private and semi-private events that may have amplified live music, DJs, and 
karaoke. 
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There is one residential building north of the property and two (2) residential buildings south (see 
attached markup for reference).  To the north ~100 feet away is Terminal Warehouse which is currently 
being repurposed into commercial office and event space.  Approximately 100 feet to the south is 610-
640 W 26th Street, containing offices and industrial warehouse spaces.  About 300 feet south is the 
United States Postal Service maintenance facility.  There are several commercial art studio buildings 
~500 feet away to the southeast but the building construction itself likely blocks direct line of sight.  The 
nearest residential properties within direct line of sight are 3Eleven apartments at 601 West 29th Street 
~600 feet away and Avalon West Chelsea ~600 feet away.  
 
3.0 Acoustic Design Considerations 
 
On March 21, 2024 Longman Lindsey visited the Starrett-Lehigh building to benchmark the ambient 
noise near the rooftop terrace and at the base of the building.  Measurements were conducted in 
accordance with ANSI/ASA S1.13-2005 (R 2010) Measurement of Sound Pressure Levels in Air using a 
hand-held NTi XL2 Analyzer sound level meter with 1/2” M2230 microphone and wind screen.  NTi XL2 
Analyzer sound level meters are classified as Type 1 meters under ANSI standard S14.2983 – American 
National Standard Specification for Sound Level Meters.  According to the standard, Type 1 meters 
have a precision tolerance of +/- 1.5 dB.  All measured sound pressure levels are reported in A-
weighted decibels, dB(A) re: 20µPa.  Sound level meters were checked for calibration before and after 
testing, using a Larson Davis Model CAL200 calibrator. 
 
We measured a typical ambient level of 53 to 63 dBA on the terrace and 57 to 63 dBA on the street 
below. 
 
With the nearest residential building being ~600 feet away, to be strictly code compliant, music volume 
should not exceed 95 dBA when measured 10 feet away from the speakers as not to disturb the nearest 
residential properties.  With the typical usage being a restaurant space with background music, our 
calculations and projections show the space will be strictly NYC Noise Code compliant and will not be 
audible at the nearest residences.   
 
For private and semi-private events where volume levels will be increased, 95 dBA should not be 
exceeded.  We recommend the AV system include an electronic limiter which will be used to set 
maximum allowable volume output from the permanent house speakers.  We understand that the 
music and sound controls will be accessible only by the building general manager who can then grant 
access to the F&B operators on an as-need basis and based on predetermined sound levels; the staff 
will not have localized volume controls. 
 
Please refer to Table 1, below for typical events and the corresponding expected and typical noise level. 
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Table 1:  Typical Events and Noise Levels 

Event Associated Activities Expected Average Sound Level 
Restaurant/bar/lounge 
(typical daily function) Typical Background Music 55-75 dBA 

Live music unamplified 
Piano 
Jazz quartet 
Acoustic rock concert 

55-75 dBA 

Conventions / Fundraisers Amplified voice 60 – 80 dBA 
Outdoor movie nights / 
big screen watch parties Cinema audio 65 dBA – 85 dBA 

Live music amplified 
DJ 
Karaoke 
Amplified rock concert 

70 dBA – 95 dBA 

Weddings 
DJ 
Amplified voice 70 dBA – 95 dBA 

Fashion shows DJ 
Amplified voice 70 dBA – 95 dBA 

 
Note that the recommendations above are designed entirely for the sound levels demonstrated from 
the house audio system equipment and house limiter pre-set levels. If outside vendors bring their own 
audio equipment for private and semi-private events and do not adhere to the levels established by the 
house limiter, then it must be expected that higher sound levels will prevail and transmit to the other 
residential properties in the vicinity; this should not be permitted and should be programmatically 
controlled accordingly to maintain a limit of 95dBA. 
 
Please note that strict code compliance is also below the typical measured ambient noise level we 
measured both at the street and roof level.  There is significant ambient noise contribution from street 
traffic and the west side highway including the helipad in the nearby vicinity.  Even if noise levels from 
the terrace were to exceed 95dBA, we would still expect the resultant noise levels to be below the 
typical ambient noise levels at the nearest adjacent residential properties. 
 
4.0 Summary 

The space is intended to be utilized as a typical restaurant, bar, and lounge space with low level 
background music most of the time.  The space will also host private and semi-private events that could 
feature live amplified music, DJs, and karaoke.  Based on our calculations, projections, and coordinated 
design elements as discussed above, we expect the property to meet strict NYC Noise Code 
compliance at the nearest residential properties.  We have determined the maximum sound level from 
the terrace could be as high as 95 dBA at ten feet from the speakers for private events and will not 
disturb nearby residential properties; however, based on our understanding of the intended 
programming, most of the time sound levels will be significantly lower. The inhouse AV system should 
be designed and limited to ensure the max level of 95dBA cannot be exceeded. 
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The above summarizes our comments and recommendations at this time.  Should you have any 
comments or questions, please do not hesitate to contact us at your earliest convenience. 
 
Best regards, 
For Longman Lindsey 
 
 
Ben Hubinger      Nate Perna  
Junior Associate     Associate Partner 
 
 
  



Terminal Warehouse
(Future Commercial)
~100 ft

600-640 W 26th St
(Commercial) ~100 ft

United States Postal
Service maintenance facility
(Commercial) ~300 ft

555 W 25th
(Commercial) ~700 ft

Starrett Lehigh
Building Terrace

3Eleven
(Residential) ~600 ft

606 W 30th
(Residential) ~700 ft

Avalon West Chelsea
(Residential) ~600 ft

Hudson Arts Building
(Future Commercial)
~500 ft

Chelsea Arts Tower
(Commercial) ~800 ft

210-218 11th Ave
(Commercial) ~600 ft

200 11th Ave
(Residential) ~800 ft
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